2010

# Westgate Resorts v. Shaun S. Adel : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

## **Jurisdiction**

This court has jurisdiction under Utah Code section 78A-3-102(3)(j).

## **Statement of the Issues and Standards of Review**

Westgate Resorts, Ltd. invited a number of people to Park City to hear a sales presentation for Westgate timeshares in exchange for a gift certificate worth \$500 for airline travel to, and hotel accommodations in, Anaheim, California. The people Westgate invited to the presentation were those with sufficient means to purchase a timeshare, including engineers, university professors, sales managers, and advertising consultants. Some of those people found the gift certificates difficult to redeem.

Shaun Adel, a disgruntled former Westgate contractor fired for falsifying sales records, stole Westgate files containing contact information of gift certificate recipients. Mr. Adel then formed Consumer Protection Group, LLC (CPG) for the sole purpose of obtaining from certificate recipients claims against Westgate related to certificate redemption and then prosecuting those claims. To obtain the claims, CPG agreed the recipients would pay nothing and do nothing (not even participate in the litigation) to prosecute their claims but would receive 50% of any recovery. In all, CPG was assigned approximately 500 claims from people who had heard a Westgate sales presentation.

But instead of trying the purchased claims separately or certifying a class of claim holders, all 500 claims were joined in this lawsuit because, and only because, they had been purchased by, and were owned by, one party—CPG, an entity that neither suffered harm nor had a claim against Westgate. CPG's purchased claims were diverse, ranging from claims of people who never tried to redeem a certificate; to people who tried but did not redeem a certificate; to people who tried, redeemed the certificate, and traveled to

Anaheim. Thus, any consolidation of claims for trial presented challenges. Instead of consolidating claims with similar fact patterns to minimize prejudice, however, the court consolidated 15 claims with different fact patterns, resulting in an array of “test cases” CPG hoped would indicate the value of all remaining claims and facilitate settlement.

The eventual result was predictable and prejudicial. The jury awarded each of the 15 claimants<sup>1</sup> between \$5 and \$550 in compensatory damages and identical punitive damages of \$66,666.67, for a total of \$1 million in punitive damages awards.

Extrapolating the punitive awards for those 15 claims to all of the 500 assigned claims would result in more than \$33 million in “punishment” imposed on Westgate as a result of the difficulty some people experienced in redeeming the \$500 certificates—certificates provided to them by an independent contractor hired by Westgate.

The way the claims were consolidated and tried and the characteristics of the jury’s punitive damages awards together demonstrate that with each separate punitive damage award the jury punished Westgate for conduct directed to the other 14 claimants and to third parties not before the court, something constitutionally forbidden. Separately, the amount of the individual punitive damages awards, which range from 121 to 13,333 times larger than all compensatory damages, and range from 1,333 and 13,333 times compensatory damages from fraud, are grossly excessive.

**Issue 1:** Whether Westgate was prejudiced by the trial court’s manner of consolidating disparate consumer claims for trial, exacerbated by the trial court’s refusal to strike statements by counsel for CPG that invited the jury to punish Westgate for conduct directed at other claimants whose claims were not then before the court.

<sup>1</sup> Although the trial began with 16 claims, Westgate obtained judgment as a matter of law on one claim, leaving 15 claims that went to the jury. (R. 4933-34.)

**Standard of Review:** A trial court's decision to consolidate is reviewed for abuse of discretion. Raggenbuck v. Suhrmann, 325 P.2d 258, 259 (Utah 1958).

**Preservation:** R. 2795-808; 4224-70; 4897-901.

**Issue 2:** Whether the trial court erred in refusing to grant JNOV or remittitur with regard to the punitive damages awards where (i) the amount of the award is constitutionally excessive and the result of passion and prejudice and (ii) the jury punished Westgate for harm allegedly suffered by third parties.

**Standard of Review:** On appeal, a party is entitled to de novo review of the constitutionality of a punitive damages award and its excessiveness under state law. Cooper Indus., Inc. v. Leatherman Tool Group, Inc., 532 U.S. 424, 431 (2001); Smith v. Fairfax Realty, Inc., 2003 UT 41, ¶ 31 & n.13, 82 P.3d 1064.

**Preservation:** R. 4861-81.

### **Determinative Provisions**

The following determinative provisions are set forth at Addendum I.

U.S. Const. amend XIV, § 2

Utah Code Ann. § 13-11-17 (2001)

Utah Code Ann. § 13-11-19 (2001)

Utah Code Ann. § 76-10-1605 (2001)

Utah R. Civ. P. 42

Utah R. Civ. P. 59

## **Statement of the Case**

### **I. Nature of the Case**

This case initially arose when Westgate invited people who could afford to purchase timeshare properties to attend a sales presentation for those timeshares in exchange for, in addition to other gifts, a certificate worth approximately \$500 for airfare to and lodging in Anaheim, California. Westgate hired a reputable, well-known independent contractor that specializes in advertising such certificate programs. Some people found that the independent contractor made it difficult to redeem the certificates.

Shaun Adel, a Westgate marketing contractor, became disgruntled when he was terminated for attempting to defraud Westgate by lying about the number of people he had solicited to attend sales presentations, solicitations for which he claimed a commission. Adel then stole confidential Westgate records with contact information for people who had attended such sales presentations. Westgate sought injunctive relief against Mr. Adel, which the trial court granted after characterizing Mr. Adel's actions as "wrongful." (R. 2349.) Mr. Adel nonetheless used the stolen contact information to enable his entity, CPG, to purchase claims from certificate recipients. Mr. Adel formed CPG for the sole purpose of obtaining and prosecuting claims against Westgate. In exchange for assigning these claims, CPG offered to give the certificate recipients, at no cost to them, 50% of any recovery. CPG eventually obtained assignments of nearly 500 such claims. This appeal is from a trial involving 15 of those 500 claims.

The proceedings involving those 15 claims raise a number of issues. First, the trial court chose not to consolidate 15 similar claims for trial, but instead consolidated 15 claims with disparate facts. Some of the 15 claimants never tried to redeem a certificate,



others tried unsuccessfully to redeem a certificate, and yet others actually redeemed a certificate, one of them traveling to Anaheim. Yet because the disparate claims were tried together, the jury treated all of them the same and awarded each of the 15 claimants the exact same punitive damages award—\$66,666.67.

Second, the punitive damages awards violate the federal due process clause and Utah law specifying limits on punitive damages awards. The purely economic damages awarded here arise exclusively from an arm's-length contractual bargain—listening to sales presentations in exchange for a \$500 certificate and other gifts—where fraud is alleged to have induced the claimants to enter into a contract. Yet the claimants here affirm that contract and seek damages stemming from Westgate's independent contractor's making it difficult to obtain a part of the benefit of their bargain. The bulk of the actual damages awarded by the jury—\$7,000—are contractual damages. The damages resulting from fraud amount to \$242. Yet whether comparing punitive damages with all actual damages or only fraud damages, the punitive damages awards are grossly disproportional under the measuring sticks structured by the United States Supreme Court and the Utah Supreme Court.

## **II. Course of Proceedings and Statement of Facts**

After nearly a decade of litigation, it is easy to overlook the initial reason that 500 diverse consumer claims were joined and 15 of those claims then consolidated for trial. It was not because the consumers knew each other, let alone were motivated to come together to file a class action lawsuit. And it is not because multiple consumers brought individual claims that caused someone to suggest consolidation. Instead, the claims at issue here were filed together, and then consolidated, only because a former Westgate

contractor, Shaun Adel, stole Westgate documents, formed CPG, and solicited claim assignments with the promise that the consumers would share in any recovery at no cost to them. (R. 7-9, 2755g-i.) CPG, which itself had no claim against Westgate, then filed all the claims in its own name. (R. 117-36.)

The 500 claims were based on theories that Westgate breached a contract with the consumer or fraudulently induced the consumer to enter into a contract. The contract involved consumers who could afford to purchase a timeshare property listening to a sales presentation in exchange for a certificate worth \$500 to travel to Anaheim (the Anaheim Certificate).<sup>2</sup> (Trial Tr. 489, 686, 857, 2381.) The alleged contract breach was that the certificate was difficult to redeem, thus depriving the consumer of the benefit of the bargain. (Trial Tr. 2381.) The alleged fraudulent conduct was that Westgate was reckless in representing the value of the certificate, which, because it was difficult to redeem, was not worth \$500. (Trial Tr. 2394-95.)

Seven years later, 15 consumer claims were tried together in a single trial. (R. 4710-12, 4723-51.) At that trial, CPG's recovery of actual damages for each claim varied from \$5 to \$550 and totaled \$7,242. (R. 4772-802.) Importantly, these compensatory damages were purely economic, as the jury refused to award any damages for emotional distress. (Id.)

The jury also awarded punitive damages. (R. 4758-72.) For a claim involving a consumer who redeemed the certificate, traveled to Anaheim, and took his family to Disneyland, the jury awarded CPG \$66,666.67 in punitive damages. (Id.) For the claims

---

<sup>2</sup> In addition to the Anaheim Certificate, the consumers also all received other gifts such as gift certificates for shopping and dining and free passes for area golf courses and ski slopes. These other gifts were not at issue at trial.

involving consumers who rejected the Anaheim Certificate when offered it but accepted other valuable gifts they used, the jury awarded CPG \$66,666.67 in punitive damages. (Id.) For the claims involving consumers who accepted the Anaheim Certificate but never attempted to redeem it, the jury awarded CPG \$66,666.67 in punitive damages. (Id.) And for the claims involving consumers who tried to redeem the certificate but were unable to do so, the jury awarded CPG \$66,666.67 in punitive damages. (Id.) . These awards are, on average, 138 times larger than the average economic damages in this case. On a claim-by-claim basis, the awards range from 121 times to 13,333 times the size of the economic damages awards and from 1,333 times to 13,333 times the size of the economic damages resulting from fraud.

On their face, the uniformity of the punitive damages awards are explained by the fact that disparate claims were consolidated so the jury heard the worst facts and, essentially ignoring the evidence specific to each claimant, considered only those worst facts when arriving at a punitive damages award for each claim. But two additional factors also explain the uniform awards. First, during trial and during CPG's closing arguments, the jury was told about numerous nonparties who allegedly had been harmed by Westgate's conduct. (Trial Tr. 506, 560, 762.) Second, during closing arguments in the punitive damages phase of the trial, counsel for CPG invited the jury to fulfill "the primary purpose of punitive damage [which] is to make sure that on a one time basis we can address this as a whole." (Trial Tr. 2646-47.) In the end, the sum total of these punitive damages for 15 claims was \$1,000,000.05. Extrapolated to the other 485 claims, Westgate's total punishment would be more than \$33 million.

**A. The Consolidation of Nearly 500 Consumer Claims into a Single Lawsuit and the Test Trial of 15 Claims**

From the outset, Westgate objected to the joinder of claims, especially if they were to be consolidated for trial. (R. 2760r-t.) The trial court allowed the claims to be joined. (R. 2768f-j.) Once the claims were joined, CPG proposed a “test trial,” in which it would choose 30 claims to “be handled on a fast track discovery schedule and a separate trial.” (R. 2776-80.) Under CPG’s plan, the 30 claims would not be the claims most factually similar, but would be representative of all the different types of claims. (R. 2778.) CPG suggested that results of the “test trial” could be used as “law of the case . . . res judicata . . . or a strong persuasive precedent to apply to the remaining claims.” (*Id.*) CPG also represented that the outcome of this test trial could guide settlement negotiations. (*Id.*)

Westgate opposed CPG’s “test trial” plan. Westgate argued that each instance of alleged fraud was distinct and consolidation of multiple fraud claims would be improper. (R. 2798-803.) Westgate pointed out that “[j]uries are often unable to distinguish the defendants’ liability as to each claim,” especially where, as here, the jury would hear evidence related to nonparties that would otherwise be inadmissible in a single claim trial. (R. 2799, 2801-03.) The trial court ordered discovery on all claims and reserved its ruling on consolidation until trial. (R. 2862.)

Ultimately, the trial court adopted what was, in effect, a version of CPG’s proposed plan. Ten days before trial, the court ordered the parties to proceed to trial on 16 claims.<sup>3</sup> (R. 4680, 4714-18.) Around this same time, the court compelled the parties to submit all of the consumer claims involving other claimants under the Utah Pattern of Unlawful Activity Act to arbitration. (R. 4714-15.) The 16 claims went to trial.

<sup>3</sup> Westgate obtained judgment as a matter of law on the claim of one consumer, leaving 15 claims that went to the jury. (R. 4933-34.)

## **B. Westgate Is Prejudiced at Trial**

At trial, the prejudice Westgate had predicted would result from consolidating diverse fraud claims in fact occurred. In addition to the jury's deciding each case after hearing about the 14 other consolidated claims, at least three times CPG's witnesses told the jury that Westgate had defrauded hundreds or thousands of people. One witness stated that there were "hundreds or a thousand plus people" involved in the "whole situation." (Trial Tr. 762.) Another witness stated that if Westgate had fulfilled its promises "there wouldn't be 1,000 of us consumers . . . or 10,000 of us that had been misled." (Trial Tr. 508.) Yet another witness referred to the fact that her recovery in this case would be impacted by the fact that there were "900 people" who had similarly assigned their claims to CPG. (Trial Tr. 560.)

During closing arguments in the punitive damages phase, counsel for CPG aggravated the problem by arguing that the purpose of punitive damages required that the jury punish Westgate for wrongful conduct directed to third parties:

Now, this is a perfect example of why punitive damages have to be large. It's taken us three weeks to try 15 couples out of hundreds and hundreds and hundreds out of the 2400 to 3700 tours that had this gift certificate.

Can you see the purpose and wisdom of having punitive damages awarded? Because it is in our legal system nearly impossible to try and litigate the entire matter or we'd be here for years, and so that is the primary purpose of punitive damage is to make sure that on a one time basis we can address this as a whole.

(Trial Tr. 2646-47 (emphasis added).) When the witnesses made comments about nonparties, the court struck the comments. (R. 508, 560, 762.) But when counsel for CPG resurrected the prejudice from those stricken comments during his closing

arguments in the punitive damages phase, the court refused to strike the comments. (Trial Tr. 2647-48.) As a ground for its refusal, the trial court read the jury instruction that permitted punitive damages to be awarded in light of “the effect of the conduct on the lives of consumers and others.” (Trial Tr. 2648.) The court did not elaborate on how the jury should interpret that instruction in light of CPG’s arguments urging punishment for conduct directed at third parties. (Trial Tr. 2649.)

As predicted by Westgate before trial, because the consumers each testified as to their own interactions with Westgate, the jury heard evidence about other alleged conduct it would not have heard had the cases been tried alone. For instance, Darren and Irene Davis were consumers who successfully redeemed their certificate and took their family to Disneyland. (Trial Tr. 753-55.) But by the time the jury was asked to determine Westgate’s liability to these consumers—and to punish Westgate—the jury had heard about 14 other consumers who did not travel. One consumer was offered an Anaheim Certificate, but rejected it. (Trial Tr. 672-73.) Others accepted their certificates, but never attempted to redeem them. (Trial Tr. 524, 527, 865-66, 918, 1383, 1389-92.) The remaining consumers attempted to redeem their certificates but were unsuccessful. (Trial Tr. 131-36, 202, 255, 326-27, 393, 453-54, 606, 795, 823, 826-27.)

Not only did the claimants have different levels of success in using the certificates, but they also testified about having different expectations and different levels of reliance. One consumer testified that, prior to his transaction with Westgate, he had attended a similar presentation with a different timeshare company and that the trip he was promised as a reward for that transaction never materialized. (Trial Tr. 249.) He testified that he thought the Westgate offer sounded “[t]oo good to be true,” but that he was willing to

“give it a try again.” (Trial Tr. 249, 278.) When asked whether he would have attended the presentation if he “had known there were extensive restrictions” associated with the Anaheim Certificate, he responded “I’m a gambler, I probably would have.” (Trial Tr. 249.) Other consumers testified that, even after they encountered difficulty redeeming the certificate, they attended subsequent Westgate presentations in the hope of obtaining more free gifts. (Trial Tr. 495-96, 628, 690.) Some of the consumers testified that they had no intention of buying a Westgate package, but attended the presentation because they wanted a free trip. (Trial Tr. 248, 397, 804, 930.) Some testified about knowing the Anaheim Certificate would include travel restrictions. (Trial Tr. 401, 719, 801, 930.) Others did not. (Trial Tr. 201, 249, 324, 392, 452, 670, 791, 863.) Most testified that they had attended similar presentations. (Trial Tr. 145, 249, 396, 486, 618, 804, 836, 929, 1347.) Yet they all were awarded the same in punitive damages.

The court did not instruct the jury in a way adequate to counteract the merging of all the testimony to consider all claims. The only instructions designed to ensure that jurors would evaluate each claim independently were instructions that “Westgate is entitled to a fair consideration of its defense against each consumer,” that “[t]he assigned claims of each of the 15 consumers must be considered separately” and that jurors should “ignore the . . . fact that CPG has, or has not, established the claims of any of the other 14 consumers.” (Trial Tr. 13, 2380.) These instructions were insufficient to mitigate the prejudice; indeed, no instruction could have accomplished that. As mentioned, the jury awarded almost identical compensatory damages to each consumer, notwithstanding the fact that some consumers never attempted to redeem their certificate and other consumers were offered their certificates but rejected them altogether. (R. 4773-802.) And in

awarding punitive damages, the jury did not make any distinctions—CPG received an identical punitive damages award of \$66,666.67 for each claim. (R. 4758-72.)

**C. The Trial Court Denies Westgate’s Combined Motion for JNOV, Remittitur, and New Trial**

After trial, Westgate moved for JNOV, remittitur of the punitive damages award, and for a new trial. In support of its motion for JNOV, Westgate again raised arguments concerning consolidation and pointed out that the result of trial demonstrates the prejudice of consolidation. (R. 4897-901.) In support of its motion for a new trial, Westgate asserted the excessiveness of the punitive damages awards. Westgate argued that, given the conduct at issue, the punitive damages awards are excessive because they range from 121 to 13,333 times larger than the total compensatory damages awards. (R. 4865-76.) Westgate also argued that the jury had impermissibly awarded punitive damages based on harms the jury believed were caused to third parties. (R. 4866.)

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