2010

Westgate Resorts v. Shaun S. Adel : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

As it is, the punitive damage award in this case is less than two-tenths of one percent of Westgate's net wealth as of 2007, and between one-half and three-quarters of one percent of Westgate's claimed wealth as of the date of trial. It is one-tenth of one percent of Westgate's annual gross revenues, and only 5 percent of the annual gross revenues just at the Canyons resort.

When viewed from that perspective, the award actually seems low – less than one percent of a company's net equity (assuming no bailout funds) does not seem likely to deter highly profitable fraudulent conduct. Stiffer punches have been upheld by this

¹⁰ At 3-1, \$21,726 in punitives would have been .000043 of Westgate's net worth in 2007, and .001 of Westgate's yearly sales at the Resort.

Court. See, e.g., *Burton Lumber & Hardware Co. v. Graham*, 2008 UT App 207, ¶¶ 27-28, 186 P.3d 1012 (upholding punitive damage award of \$34,000 against defendant whose annual income was \$40,000 and net worth \$12,000); *Fairfax Realty, supra* (upholding punitive damages award equaling 15 percent of the defendant’s wealth); *Diversified Holdings* at ¶33 (reducing a punitive damage award to 2.86% of the defendant’s net worth).

Westgate argues that this case is similar to *Diversified Holdings*, in which the Court reduced a punitive damage award. Punitive damages are inherently case specific, however, and the concerns in that case are not present here. For example, in *Diversified Holdings*, only a single transaction was involved. *Id.*, ¶ 2. The award was 10 percent of the defendant’s net worth. ¶ 15. The victim was “a corporation, represented in [the] transaction by two men with substantial experience in both business and real estate transactions.” ¶ 16. The defendant’s fraud was directed at only a small number of people. ¶ 20. This case is not *Diversified Holdings*, and the jury’s punitive damages verdict is not excessive under Utah law.

B. The punitive damages award does not violate the United States constitution.

1. Gore factors

Because significant overlap exists between the state (*Crookston*) and federal (*Gore*) factors, much of the foregoing discussion bears on the federal analysis as well.

The U.S Supreme Court has set forth three “guideposts” for aiding the Court in reviewing constitutional challenges to punitive damages awards: 1) the reprehensibility

of the conduct; 2) the ratio of punitive damages to compensatory damages; and 3) civil penalties that could be assessed for the misconduct under state law. *BMW v. Gore*, 517 U.S. 559, 116 S.Ct. 1589 (1996).

Westgate's principal focus is, again, the second factor, mathematical ratio between the total compensatory damages award and the total punitive damages award. That ratio, Westgate says, is 138 to 1 (or 4100 to 1 if the \$500 damages for the vacation were carved out). (The error of that contention is addressed, *supra*.) As discussed above, however, punitive damages awards in cases involving low compensatory damages are consistently upheld with far greater ratios. *See* pp. 50-52, *supra*.

The other two guideposts do not aid Westgate, either. "The most important indicium of the reasonableness of a punitive damages award is the reprehensibility of the defendant's conduct." *State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Campbell*, 538 U.S.408, 419, 123 S.Ct. 1513 (2003). In assessing reprehensibility, the Court should consider, among other things, whether "the conduct involved repeated actions or was an isolated incident," and whether "the harm was the result of intentional malice, trickery, or deceit, or mere accident." *Id.* Westgate's conduct in this case falls within both categories. It was deliberate deceit, and not an isolated incident. *See Exxon, supra* (repeatedly emphasizing that there was no evidence of profit motive or intentional misconduct in that case).

In its defense, Westgate can only claim that the consumers were not financially vulnerable, that there was no fiduciary relationship, and that, somehow, "Westgate's conduct should be construed to involve isolated incidents in light of the fact that 500 individual claims are being prosecuted." (Westgate Brief, p. 31.) Only by ignoring

virtually every piece of evidence at trial can Westgate claim that a resort-wide scheme involving 2,300 identical fraudulent certificates was an “isolated” incident.¹¹

The third *Gore* guidepost is the range of civil penalties that could have been imposed under state law for the misconduct. Westgate’s memorandum mentions a few: the Utah Consumer Sales Practice Act, which would allow for \$2,000 per claim; the Division of Consumer Protection could fine Westgate up to \$1,000; the Utah pattern of Unlawful Activities Act, which would allow for twice the damages sustained (plus attorney fees, not mentioned by Westgate).

Glaringly absent from Westgate’s recitation of statutory penalties is Utah Code Ann. § 57-19-3(a), a “death penalty” for timeshare companies who engage in fraudulent marketing tactics. Section § 57-19-3(a) specifically provided (and still provides) that the registration of a timeshare company to do business in Utah may be revoked if “the developer’s advertising or sales techniques or trade practices have been or are deceptive, false, or misleading[.]” That would have cost Westgate \$20 million per year, far more than the jury’s punishment. *See* p. _____, *supra*. Westgate cannot claim that “nothing in Utah statutes provided notice of the possibility of a \$1 million penalty” (Westgate Brief, p. 33) when it knew that engaging in “deceptive, false, or misleading” sales tactics could have multi-million-dollar consequences.¹²

¹¹ Westgate’s implications that the consumers were sophisticated and/or wealthy are also exaggerated. (Westgate Brief, pp. 13, 31.) Westgate targeted consumers with \$50,000 in total family income, hardly in the same league as Westgate. (Trial Exh. S.)

¹² Westgate suggests several times that, if the court “extrapolated” from this verdict, it could view Westgate as having been penalized \$33 million. In this context, extrapolation is synonymous with speculation: It assumes that punitive damages would be sought in

2. Harm to others

Westgate argues that the jury's verdict runs afoul of *Philip Morris USA v. Williams*, 459 U.S. 346, 349, 353-355 (2007). *Philip Morris* said that, while a jury can be informed of and consider harm to others in evaluating reprehensibility, it cannot punish a defendant for harm inflicted upon strangers to the litigation. *Id.* at 353. Westgate argues: "Where the likelihood of punishing third parties is present, it is constitutionally inadequate for a trial court to rely on that language alone to ensure that the jury was 'not asking the wrong question, *i.e.*, seeking not simply to determine reprehensibility, but also to punish for harm caused to strangers.'" (Westgate Brief, p. 36.)

The problem with Westgate's argument is threefold. First, as noted above, the jury instruction that Westgate says created this "likelihood of punishing third parties" is one to which Westgate *stipulated*. A party cannot complain about an instruction to which it stipulated, or failed to object.

Relatedly, Westgate is precluded from challenging the verdict on this ground because it did not request a "*Philip Morris*" instruction. *Miell, supra*, 569 F.Supp.2d at 850-851 (defendant cannot challenge verdict on *Philip Morris* grounds unless it requested a jury instruction on that issue); *Kauffman v. Maxim Healthcare Services, Inc.*, 509 F.Supp.2d 210, 214-215 (E.D.N.Y. 2007) (same; noting that *Philip Morris* says a trial

subsequent trials, that the trial court would submit such damages to the jury, that Westgate would not be permitted to tell the jury about the prior award, etc. While it is understandable that Westgate would prefer to challenge a much bigger but non-existent award, the only judgment before the court is for \$1 million.

court must, “upon request,” provide such an instruction); *Rinehart v. Shelter General Insurance Co.*, 261 S.W.3d 583, 597-598 (Mo. App. 2008), application for transfer to Supreme Court denied; *Modern Management Co. v. Wilson*, 997 A.2d 37, 53 (D.C. App. 2010); *Fairfax Realty, supra*, ¶ 30 n. 12 (right to constitutional review of a punitive damage award “may be waived or forfeited like many other constitutional rights.”).

Enforcing these established rules of waiver is important in several respects. Both CPG’s counsel and the court relied on Westgate’s stipulation in their argument and rulings. (*See, e.g.*, R. 5668: T. 2646-2649.) If the instruction were erroneous as Westgate apparently contends, it was invited error, and allowing Westgate to raise the issue now would severely prejudice CPG. *Tschaggeny v. Milbank Ins. Co.*, 2007 UT 37, ¶ 12, 163 P.3d 615 (“The invited error doctrine prevents a party from taking ‘advantage of an error committed at trial when that party led the trial court into committing the error.’”).

“[U]nder the doctrine of invited error, we have declined to engage in even plain error review when ‘counsel, either by statement or act, affirmatively represented to the [trial] court that he or she had no objection to the [proceedings].’” *State v. Winfield*, 2006 UT 4, ¶ 14, 128 P.3d 1171, 1175 (alterations in original) (citation omitted). “Our invited error doctrine arises from the principle that ‘a party cannot take advantage of an error committed at trial when that party led the trial court into committing the error.’” *Id.* at ¶ 15 (citation omitted).

More fundamentally, the United States Supreme Court has recognized that state courts have an important interest in enforcing their established rules. An example is the

Philip Morris case itself. In 2007, the Supreme Court vacated a large punitive damage award against Philip Morris, holding that the Fourteenth Amendment prohibits the state from using punitive damages to punish for harms to nonparties. 549 U.S. 346.

On remand, the Oregon Supreme Court noted that “there is a preliminary, independent state law standard that we must consider, before we address the constitutional standard that the United States Supreme Court has articulated.” *Williams v. Philip Morris Inc.*, 344 Or. 45, 176 P.3d 1255, 1260. The court concluded that under state law, Philip Morris waived its right to challenge the trial court’s instruction of the jury, because it failed to proffer an instruction consistent with the requirements of Oregon law. *Id.* at 1260-1263. Accordingly, it affirmed the original punitive damage award. *Id.* at 1264.

Philip Morris filed a petition for certiorari, which the United States Supreme Court initially granted. The parties’ briefing centered on whether the Oregon Supreme Court was permitted to apply its own waiver rules to a federal constitutional challenge. http://www.scotuswiki.com/index.php?title=Philip_Morris_USA%2C_Inc._v._Williams (accessed December 17, 2010). (Philip Morris also argued that the waiver rule was not “firmly established” or “regularly followed.” *Id.*)

Oral argument centered around the same inquiry, a state’s legitimate interest in applying its own, well-established principles of waiver, even if doing so allegedly sustains a federal constitutional violation. *See* Addendum Exh. 3. After argument, the court dismissed certiorari as improvidently granted. *Id.*

Unlike *Philip Morris*, where the cited rule had rarely been invoked, there is no debate here as to the vitality of Utah's waiver rules. Utah appellate courts have held dozens of times in recent years alone that a party who stipulates to a jury instruction, who fails to object to an instruction, or who fails to proffer its own instruction cannot thereafter claim error on appeal. See list of cases attached hereto as Addendum Exh. 4. In light of the prejudice resulting from invited error, CPG respectfully submits that applying these settled principles to Westgate's argument is critical.

CPG also notes that, even without a proffered instruction from Westgate, the trial court essentially gave the jury guidance on its own. The entire exchange that occurred during Mr. Humpherys' closing argument (contrasted with Westgate's excerpt) makes clear the limited purpose for which the Court permitted reference to other consumers:

At the point of closing argument at which Westgate objected, counsel was addressing the fourth of the seven *Crookston* considerations delineated in the jury instruction to which Westgate had stipulated. See R. 5668: T. 2646-2647 (Mr. Humpherys: "In the Jury Instruction, Your Honor, one of the things that the jury must consider is item Number 4, the effect of the conduct on the lives of the consumers and others. I'm addressing that very thing.")).

In front of the jury, Westgate asked the Court whether counsel would be allowed to "argue that punitive damages can be awarded for the entire group of people that might have been affected by this particular premium incentive program; is that right?" (R. 5668: T. 2648 (Epstein).) The Court then stated that counsel's argument would be limited to the items in the stipulated jury instruction: "He may argue the facts and

circumstances surrounding the conduct, the nature of the alleged conduct, the relative wealth of Westgate Resorts, the effect of the conduct on the lives of the consumers and others, the probability of future recurrence and misconduct, the relationship of the parties and the amount of actual damages awarded. As long as he's confined to that, that's the Instruction 76 relative to punitive damages.” (R. 5668: T. 2648-2649.)

On its own, therefore, the trial court limited consideration of counsel's reference to other consumers to the purposes delineated in Instruction 76, to which Westgate stipulated. Moreover, Westgate had an opportunity to tell the jury its own view as to the limited scope of Instruction 76, and it did so. (R. 5668: T. 2663.)

Westgate has not shown that the jury's verdict was based upon improper considerations. Under *Philip Morris*, a jury can consider harm to others for the purpose of determining reprehensibility. *See id.*, 127 S.Ct. at 1063 (reaffirming that plaintiff may show harm to non-parties to demonstrate “a different part of the punitive damages constitutional equation, namely, reprehensibility”) and *id.* (“harm to others shows more reprehensible conduct”).

Westgate claims that the sheer size of the jury's award, the identical awards, and the award of punitive damages to Mr. Davis, who (eventually) travelled, must have meant that the jury punished Westgate for harm to nonparties. (Westgate Brief, p. 36.) But with this set of facts, it is more likely that the jury followed stipulated Instruction 75, Punitive Damages as Punishment:

If you find that punitive damages are proper in this case, you may award such sum as, in your judgment, would be reasonable and proper as a punishment to the defendant for such wrongs, and as a wholesome warning

to others not to offend in like manner. If such punitive damages are given, you should award them with caution and you should keep in mind that they are only for the purpose just mentioned and not the measure of actual damages. (R. 5668: 2636-37)

The jury, knowing the facts of the case and familiar with Westgate's wealth, conduct, and attitude, chose a figure of \$1,000,000 as necessary and sufficient to punish Westgate and serve as a warning to others. Following Instruction 75, the jury did not tailor each award to the minor variations in consumers' actual damages, it simply divided the punitive number by fifteen.

\$1 million was a reasonable assessment of what it would take to fulfill the purposes of punitive damages in light of Westgate's conduct toward the fifteen consumers whose claims were tried. Any suggestion that the jury's verdict includes punishment of Westgate for harm caused to non-parties is purely speculative, but Westgate would have only itself to blame if it did.¹³

Westgate complains that references were made by three consumers to "900 people," "hundreds or 1000 people," or "1000; 10,000 misled Consumers," and which CPG's counsel allegedly referenced improperly during closing argument. (Westgate Brief, p. 9.) With respect to the consumer references, Westgate disregards the court's response. On R. 5660: T. 508, for example, a witness did mention, unsolicited, that if he had received his trip, "there wouldn't be 1,000 of us consumers out there, or 10,000 of us that had been misled—", at which point CPG's counsel immediately cut him off. The

¹³ Westgate's assumption that the jury was otherwise inflamed is contradicted by the fact that the jurors, despite counsel's urging, calmly rejected every consumer's claim of emotional distress and general damages. (R. 4802: Verdict.)

court struck the reference, to which the jury was unlikely to give credence anyway, as it knew that the entire number of certificates that MDI had provided Westgate was nowhere near 10,000. The court also struck the other two cited references, R. 5660: T. 560, T. 762.

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